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Bodleian Library. The second belonged to

Sir Robert Cotton, and remained until re-

centlywith his library in the British Museum.
It is now in the National Portrait Gallery.
A third portrait, taken by stealth, when
Camden was on his deathbed, belonged to

Lord-chancellor Clarendon. It still forms

part of the Clarendon Gallery (see LADY
THERESA LEWIS'S Friends of Clarendon, 1852,
iii. 284). Two other portraits, in posses-
sion of the College of Arms and the Painter-

Stainers' Company, perished in the fire of I

London. A copy of one of the originals was !

made for Sylvan Morgan, who also set up a

second, much decorated, as a sign before his

door.

The engraved portraits of Camden are as

follows: 1. Oval, by J. T. de Bry, in Bois-

sard's ' Bibliotheca sive Thesaurus Virtutis

et Gloria},' 1628, sm. 4to. 2. Small oval (by
J. Payne ?), bearing the name of G. Humble
as publisher ;

the plate afterwards used,
Humble's name being cleaned off, in the 1637

edition, and again, retouched, in the 1657
edition of the '

Remains,' sm. 4to. 3. Small

square, by W. Marshall, in Fuller's '

Holy
State,' 1648, folio. 4. In a herald's coat,

very unlike all the others, and perhaps copied
from Morgan's

'

sign,' by J. Gaywood, in

Morgan's
'

Sphere of Gentry,' 1661, sm. folio.

6. An adaptation of 2 by R. "White, in the

'Remains,' 1674, 8vo. 6. Another, larger,

by White, representing Camden at fifty-eight

years of age, A.D. 1609, in the '

Epistolse,'1691,
4to. 7. In a herald's coat, also by White,
large, in Gibson's '

Britannia,' 1695, folio.

8. The Bodleian portrait, engraved by Basire

for Gough's 'Britannia,' 1789, folio. 9. A
small head-piece, by G. Vertue, for Wise's
ed. of Asser, 1722. In addition, there are a

few modern copies, including one after the

Clarendon portrait.
Camden's house at Chislehurst passed, in

the last century, into the hands of the family
of Pratt, barons Camden, who took their

title from the property. To the present gene-
ration it is known as the place of retirement
of the French emperor, Louis Napoleon.

[Camden's Memorabilia de seipso, his Jac. I

Annalium Apparatus, and his correspondence,
all in Smith's Camdeni Epistolae (1691); his

address ad Lectorem in the 1600 ed. of the Bri-
tannia ; Degory "Wheare's Parentatio Historica

(1624); Camdeni Vite, by Smith (1691); Life
in Gibson's Britannia

; Life in Gough's Bri-
tannia ;

Life in Bayle's Dictionary (1736) ; Life
in the Biographia Britannica; Life in Wood's
Athenae Oxon. (ed. Bliss), vol. ii. ; Letters of Emi-
nent Literary Men (Camd. Soc. 1843); Chester's

Westminster Abbey Registers (1875)].
E. M. T.

GAMBLEAC. [See CIMELLIATTC.]

CAMELFORD, LORD (1737-1793). [See
PITT, THOMAS.]

CAMERON, SIR ALAN (1753-1828),
general, the head of a branch of the great
clan Cameron, was born at Errach, Inver-

ness-shire, in 1753. He won a great athletic

reputation in his native glens, and on the out-
break of the war of the American revolution
volunteered for service in America, and re-
ceived a commission in one of the provincial
regiments. In 1782 he was taken prisoner
when on a mission to organise a force out of
the Indian tribes, and was imprisoned for two
years in the common gaol at Philadelphia as
an abettor of Indian atrocities. In an at-

tempt to escape he broke both his ankles. In
1784 he was released and returned to Errach,
and was put upon half-pay. On 17 Aug.
1793 letters of service were issued to him to
raise a corps of highlanders, of which he was
appointed major-commandant. His immense
popularity in the highlands made this an easy
task, although he had no bounty to grant. In

January 1794 a fine body of a thousand men,
raised by him and officered by old half-pay
officers of the American war, was inspected

-

at Glasgow and named the 79th, or Cameron

Highlanders ;
Cameron was nominated lieu-

tenant-colonel commandant. From 1794 to

1795 the new regiment served in Flanders,
and in 1796, in which year he was gazetted a
lieutenant-colonel in thearmy, it was ordered
to the West Indies and engaged at the re-

capture of Martinique. In 1797 the men of
the regiment, which had been decimated by
disease, were drafted into the 42nd High-
landers, and Cameron and the officers re-

turned to Scotland, where in a few months

they had raised a new regiment under the
same designation, fit to be ordered on active

service. Accordingly, in 1799, the new 79th

regiment was ordered to form part of the ex-

pedition to the Helder
;
it was one ofthe regi-

ments in Moore's brigade, and particularly

distinguished itself in the battle of 2 Oct.,
in which Cameron was \vounded. After re-

cruiting to supply its losses, the 79th was
ordered to form part of Sir James Pulteney's

expedition to Ferrol, and then to join Sir

Ralph Abercromby in the Mediterranean.

In the army which landed at Aboukir Bay
on 8 March 1801 and won the battle of Alex-
andria the 79th formed part of Lord Cavan's

brigade, and was not much engaged. In 1804
Cameron was permitted to raise a second bat-

talion, which he did in six months, and on
1 Jan. 1804 he was gazetted a colonel in the

army and colonel ofthe 79th. He commanded
both battalions in Lord Cathcart's expedition



Cameron 286 Cameron

to Denmark in 1807, and was appointed to

take military possession of Copenhagen after

the siege. In the following year he was, at

Sir John Moore's especial request, made a bri-

gadier-general, with the command of one of

the brigades in Moore's army. He accom-

panied Moore to Sweden and then to Por-

tugal, where he arrived just after the battle

of Vimeiro. When Sir John Moore made
his famous advance to Salamanca, Cameron
was left behind with his brigade to command
in Lisbon, but when he was superseded in

that capacity by the arrival of Major-general
Cradock, he at once moved forward by that

general's order to join Moore. On reaching
Almeida he heard of Moore's retreat, and

occupied himself in collecting the stragglers ;

these he formed into two battalions, each a

thousand strong, which did good service at

the battle of Talavera, and were known as the

1st and 2nd battalion of Detachments. He
then fell back on Santarem, and made every
preparation for covering Lisbon under the

direction of Major-general Cradock. When
Wellesley landed to supersede Cradock, he
told offCameron's strong brigade to cover the

passes into Portugal from the east, while he
drove Soult from Oporto, and then coming
south ordered Cameron to lead the advance
of the army into Spain. At the battle of

Talavera Cameron's brigade was posted on the
left of the first line and was hotly engaged,
and the general had two horses shot under

him, but he continued to command his brigade
until after the battle of Busaco, when he was

promoted major-general on 25 July 1810, and

obliged to come home from ill-health. He
saw no more service. His regiment served
at Fuentes de Onoro, where his eldest son,
Lieutenant-colonel Philip Cameron, was
killed at its head, and throughout the Pe-
ninsular war. In 1814 he received a gold
medal and clasp for the battles of Talavera
and Busaco, and in January 1815 was made
a K.C.B. on the extension of the order of the

Bath. On 12 Aug. 1819 he was promoted
lieutenant-general. He died at Fulham on
9 March 1828.

[Sketches of the Manners, Character, and Pre-

sent State of the Highlanders of Scotland, with

details of the Military Services of the Highland
Regiments, by Colonel David Stewart, 2 vols.

1822
;
and Gent. Mag. April 1828.] H. M. S.

CAMERON, ALEXANDER, D.D.

(1747-1828), catholic bishop, was born at

Auchindrine, in Castleton of Braemar, Aber-

deenshire, on 28 July 1747. After spending
four years in the seminary at Scalan, in Glen-

livat, he entered the Scotch college at Rome
on 22 Dec. 1764. On his return to Scotland

in 1772 he was appointed to the mission of

Strathaven, and in 1780 he became rector of
the Scotch college at Valladolid. He was
nominated coadjutor to Bishop Hay in 1797

;

was consecrated bishop of Maximianopolis,
in Palaestrina Secunda, on 28 Oct. 1798, at
Madrid

;
returned to Scotland in 1802

; suc-
ceeded as fifth vicar-apostolic of the Lowland
district on the resignation of Bishop Hay
in 1806; resigned his vicarial functions in
1825

;
died at Edinburgh on 7 Feb. 1828, and

was buried there in St. Mary's Church, on
which occasion the funeral service of the
catholic church was, for the first time since
the Reformation, publicly performed with the

proper ceremonial in Scotland.

[J. Gordon's Catholic Church in Scotland, p.
458 (with portrait) ; Gent. Mag. xcviii. (i.) 272;
Catholic Directory (1885), p. 61

; Fox's Hist, of
James II, pref. pp. xxvii, xxviii.] T. C.

CAMERON, SIR ALEXANDER (1781-
1850), general, a younger son of Alexander
Cameron of Inverallort, Argyllshire, was
born there in 1781. On 22 Oct. 1797 he re-

ceived a commission as ensign in the Breadal-
bane Fencibles, and in 1799 he volunteered
to serve with the 92nd Highlanders in the

expedition to the Helder, and received an

ensigncy in that regiment. In 1800, when
the rifle brigade, then known as the 95th

regiment, was raised, Cameron volunteered,
and was promoted lieutenant in it on 6 Sept.
1800. In the same year he was present at

the battle of Copenhagen, and in 1801 he
volunteered to serve with his former regi-

ment, the 92nd Highlanders, in Egypt, and
was severely wounded in the arm and side

in the battle of 13 March. He then returned
to England, and rejoined the rifles, and was
trained with the other officers in the camp
at Shorncliffe by Sir John Moore, who se-

cured his promotion to the rank of captain
on 6 May 1805. He served with his battalion

in Lord Cathcart's expedition to Hanover in

1805, and in the expedition to Denmark, and
was present at the action of Kioge. In ] 808
he was ordered to Portugalwith Anstruther's

brigade, and was present at the battle of

Vimeiro. During the retreat of Sir John
Moore he was continually engaged with the

rest of the reserve in covering the retreat.

He especially distinguished himself at the

affair of Cacabelos and the battle of Corunna,
at both of which he commanded two com-

panies of his battalion. In May 1809 he was

again ordered to Portugal, and on reaching
Lisbon his battalion was brigaded, with the

43rd and 52nd regiments, into the celebrated

light brigade, under the command of Robert

Craufurd, which made its famous forced
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march in July, and joined the main army
the day after the battle of Talavera. From

January to June 1810 Craufurd's advanced

position on the Coa was one of extreme dan-

ger, and Cameron distinguished himself in

many emergencies, and in the action, 24 June

1810, held the bridge with two companies

against the French army until Major Macleod
of the 43rd came to his assistance. In the re-

treat on Busaco he commanded the rear com-

panies of the light brigade, which covered the

retreat. He commanded the outposts during
the time when Massena remained at Santa-

rem, and in the pursuit after that marshal

succeeded to the command of the left wing
of the rifles, after the fall of Major Stuart at

Foz d'Aronce, and twice led it into action at

Casal Nova and at Sabugal. The light brigade
had during the occupation of the lines of

Torres Vedras become the light division by
the addition of two regiments of Portuguese
cacadores, and as a wing of the rifles was
attached to each brigade, Cameron'scommand
was of proportionate importance, and he was

specially recommended by Lord Wellington
for a brevet majority, to which he was ga-
zetted on 30 May 1811. During the siege of

Almeidaand at the battle ofFuentes de Onoro
he commanded a detachment of two hundred

picked sharpshooters
and half a troop of horse

artillery, with the special duty of preventing
supplies from entering the place, and during
the siege of Ciudad Rodrigo he commanded
the left wing of the rifles at the outposts
and the covering party during the storm on
18 Jan. 1812. At the siege of Badajoz he
was specially thanked in general orders, with
Colonel Williams of the 60th, for repulsing
a sortie, and on the night of the assault he

again commanded the covering party. On the

death of Major O'Hare he succeeded to the

command of the battalion, and led it into

the city. He received a brevet lieutenant-

colonelcy and the vacant regimental majority
on 27 April and 14 May 1812. He then suc-

ceeded to the command of the 1st battalion,
which was again united, on the 2nd battalion

rifles joining the division, and kept it in such

perfect condition that it became a model to the
whole army (see anecdote in COPE'S History
of the Rifle Brigade, p. 127). This battalion he
commanded at the battle of Salamanca, and
in the advance to Madrid, and with it covered
Hill's retreat alongthe left bank ofthe Tagus.
He had the mortification of being superseded
in his command ofthe battalion by the arrival

of Lieutenant-colonel Norcott in May 1813,
and so was only present at the battle of Vit-
toria as a regimental major, where he was so

severely wounded that he had to return to

England. Towards the close of 1813 he was

selected for the command of a provisional
battalion of rifles, which was sent to Flanders
to serve in Sir Thomas Graham's expedition,
and he commanded it at Merxem, when he
was thanked in the general orders and men-
tioned in despatches, and before Antwerp.
At the conclusion of peace he received a gold
medal and two clasps for having commanded
a battalion at Ciudad Rodrigo, Badajoz, and
Salamanca, and was made a C.B. When war

again broke out in 1815, he accompanied the
1st battalion rifles to Belgium as regimental
major, and commanded the light companies
of Kempt's brigade of Picton's division at

Quatre Bras, and his battalion at the battle

of Waterloo, from the period of Barnard's
wound until the close of the day, when he
was himselfwounded in the throat. Cameron
saw no more service, and his latter years are

marked only by promotions and honours. In
October 1815 he was made a knight of the
Russian order of St. Anne

;
in 1830 he was

promoted colonel
;
in 1832 he was appointed

deputy-governor of St. Mawes
;
in 1838 he

was promoted major-general, and made a
K.C.B. ;

in 1846 he received the colonelcy of

the 74th regiment, and on 26 July 1850 he
died at Inverallort in Argyllshire. He was
one of the very best officers of light troops
ever trained by Moore and employed by Wel-

lington.

[Royal Military Calendar ; Cope's History of

the Rifle Brigade.] H. M. S.

CAMERON, ARCHIBALD (1707-
1753), Jacobite, was the fourth son of John

Cameron, eighteenth of Lochiel, by his wife,

Isabel, daughter of Alexander Campbell of

Lochnell, and the younger brother of Donald
Cameron [q. v.], who took a prominent part
in the rising of 1745. He was born in 1707,
and was originally intended for the bar, but

preferred medicine to law, and, after com-

pleting his studies at Edinburgh and Paris,

settled at Lochaber among his own people,

devoting his whole attention to their general

welfare, and exercising among them as much
the functions of a philanthropist as a physi-
cian. In the rebellion of 1745 he was present
with his clan,

' not from choice,' as he alleged,
' but from compulsion of kindred,' and chiefly

in the character of physician, although appa-

rently holding also the rank of captain. After

the defeat of the highlanders at Culloden,
16 April 1746, Cameron took an active part in

concealing Prince Charles, being always in

constant communication with him, and send-

ing information to him, when in the '

cage
'

at Benalder, of the arrival of two vessels at

Loch-nanuagh to convey him and his friends

to France. Escaping with the party, which
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included also his brother, Cameron obtained
an appointment as physician and captain in

Albany's regiment, to which his brother had
been appointed colonel, and on his brother's

death in 1748 he was transferred to a similar

position in Lord Ogilvie's regiment. In 1749
he came over to England to receive money
contributed by the Pretender's friends for the

support of his adherents, and in 1753 he paid
a visit to Scotland on a similar errand, when,
word being sent to the garrison of Inversnaid
of his arrival in the neighbourhood, he was on
12March apprehended at Glenbucket,whence
he was brought to Edinburgh Castle, and
after a short confinement was sent up to

London. On 17 May he was arraigned before

the court of king's bench upon the act of
attainder passed against him and others for

being concerned in the rebellion of 1745, and
not surrendering in due time, and was con-
demned to be hanged and quartered. Not-

withstanding the frantic efforts of his widow
to save him by petitioning the king, and the
more -influential of the nobility, the sentence
was carried out on 7 June, Cameron bearing
himselfwith undaunted composure. The exe-

cution, after hostilities had so long ceased, of
a gentleman of so humane a disposition, who
during the rebellion had exercised his skill

as a physician among both friends and foes,
is explained by the general suspicion prevail-

ing among political circles that he was an

emissary of King Frederick of Prussia, who,
it was said, purposed to send over 15,000 men
to aid a new Jacobite rising (WALPOLE,
George II, and Letters to Horace Mann).
The execution of Cameron provoked, accord-

ing to Boswell, a caustic invective against
George II, from Dr. Johnson, when on a visit

to Richardson. By his wife Jean, daughter
of Archibald Cameron ofDungallon, Cameron
left two sons and a daughter.

[Life ofDr. Archibald Cameron, London, 1753;
Scots Magazine, xv. (1753), 157,200,250-1,278-
280, 305, 657, 659; Gent. Mag. xxiii. (1753), 198,
246, 257-8 ;

State Trials, xix. 734-46 ;
Macken-

zie's Hist, of the Camerons, 214, 222, 233. 239,
241-3, 251-3, 261-78; Carlyle's Frederick the

Great, bk. xvi. ch. xiii.] T. F. H.

CAMERON, CHARLES DUNCAN (d.

1870), British consul in Abyssinia, was son
of an old Peninsular officer, Colonel Charles

Cameron, 3rd Buffs. He entered the army,
by purchase, as ensign in the 45th foot on
19 May 1846, and served therein until July
1851. He was attached to the native levies

during the Kaffir war of 1846-7. Having
settled in Natal on his retirement from the

45th, he was
1

employed by Mr. (afterwards
Sir B. C.) Pine, then lieutenant-governor of
that colony, on diplomatic service in the

Zulu country, and acted as Kaffir magis-
trate in the Klip river district of Natal. He
commanded the Kaffir irregulars sent from
Natal to the Cape Colony overland during
the war of 1851-2. At the outbreak of the
war with Russia he was appointed to the
staff of Sir Fenwick Williams, her majesty's
commissioner with the Turkish army, receiv-

ing the local rank of captain in Turkey while
so employed. He was placed in command
of the fortifications in course of erection at

Erzeroum, and after the fall of Kars was de-
tached on special service to Trebizond until

September 1856. For his military services
he received the Kaffir and Turkishwarmedals,
and the Turkish medal for Kars. He passed
an examination before the civil service com-
missioners, and obtained an honorary certi-

ficate on 16 June 1858. He was appointed
vice-consul at Redout Kale in April 1858,and
was removed to Poti in 1859. He was ap-
pointed British consul in Abyssinia to reside

at Massowah in 1860, and left for his new sta-

tion inNovember 1861, arrivingthere on 9 Jan.
1862. He accompanied the Grand Duke of

Saxe-Cobourg during a visit to the interior in

that year. Cameron afterwards left Massowah
for Gondar, to deliver to King Theodore of

Abyssinia a royal letter and presents from
Queen Victoria, and arrived at Gondar on
23 June 1862. He was imprisoned by King
Theodore, on charges of interfering with the
internal politics of the kingdom, from 2 June
1864 until 17 Aug. 1866, when he was handed
over to Mr. Rassam, assistant political agent
at Aden, who had been sent on a special
mission to Abyssinia to obtain his release.

He was reimprisoned by King Theodore,
together with Mr. Rassam and others, at

Amba Magdala from 12 July 1866, until re-

leased, with the other prisoners, on the ap-
pearance ofthe British army before Magdala,
11 April 1868. Cameron returned to Eng-
land in July 1868, and retired on a pension
in December of the same year. He died at

Geneva on 30 May 1870. His account of
his captivity and the correspondence relating
thereto, and to the Abyssinian expedition,
will be found among

' Parl. Printed Papers,'
1868-9. He was elected fellow of the Royal
Geographical Society in 1858.

[Army Lists
; Foreign, Office Lists ; Parl.

Papers, Accounts and Papers, 1868-9; Hozier's

Narrative of the Expedition to Abyssinia (Lon-
don, 1869) ; Journal R. Geog. Soc., London, xli.

p. cliii.] H. M. C.

CAMERON, CHARLES HAY (1795-
1880), jurist, was born on 11 Feb. 1795. He
was the son of Charles Cameron, governor
of the Bahama Islands, by Lady Margaret
Hay, daughter ofthe fourteenth Earl of Erroll.
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His grandfather, Donald Cameron, was the

younger son of Dr. Archibald Cameron [q. v.]
Charles Hay Cameron erected a monument
to his great-grandfather in the Savoy Chapel.
It was injured by a fire in 1864, when Mr.
C. L. Norman, Cameron's son-in-law, replaced
it by a painted window. Cameron was called

to the bar at Lincoln's Inn in 1820. He was
a disciple, and ultimately perhaps the last

surviving disciple, of Jeremy Bentham. He
was employed upon various commissions. His

report upon 'judicial establishments and pro-
cedure in Ceylon/ the result of a mission

with Colonel Colebrooke, is dated 31 Jan.

1832. He was also a commissioner for in-

quiring into charities, and prepared a report

upon the operation of the poor laws in April
1833. By the act of 1833 a fourth member
was added to the Supreme Council of India

(previously the Council of Bengal), and a

law commission was constituted, one member
of which was to be appointed from England.
Cameron was the first member so appointed,
and went to India in the beginning of 1835.

In 1843 he was appointed fourth member of

council, and became president of the Council
of Education for Bengal, of which he had
been a member from his arrival in India.

Cameron took an important part in the work
of codification begun by Macaulay, and was

Macaulay's chief adviser and co-operator in

the preparation of the penal code (TREVE-
LYAN, Macaulay, i. 427, 443, 463). He took
a great interest in the introduction of Eng-
lish education among the natives of India.

A public meeting of natives was held at

Calcutta on 22 Feb. 1848, upon his departure
for England, to thank him for his exertions,
and request him to sit for his portrait. His
views are explained in an ' Address to Parlia-

ment on the duties of Great Britain to India
in respect of the education of the natives and
their official employment, by C. H. Cameron '

(1853), in which he advocates a more liberal

treatment of the Hindoo population.
Cameron took no further part in active life

after his return to England. He lived suc-

cessively in London, Putney, and at Fresh-
water in the Isle of Wight. In 1875 he
went to Ceylon, where his sons were esta-

blished. After a visit to England in 1878, he
died in Ceylon on 8 May 1880.

Cameron was a man of cultivated intel-

lect, well read in classical and modern litera-

ture, and intimate with many distinguished
men of his day, especially Sir Henry Taylor,
Lord Tennyson, and H. T. Prinsep. He mar-

ried, in 1838, Julia Margaret Pattle [see
CAMERON, JULIA MARGARET], by whom he
had five sons and a daughter, Julia (d. 1873),
married to Charles Lloyd Norman.

VOL. VIII.

[Academy, 26 June 1880; Sir H. Taylor's
Autobiography, ii. 48-55, 184

; Mackenzie's His-

tory of the Camerons, 1 884
; information from

the family.] L. S.

CAMERON, DONALD (1695 P-1748),
generally known as GENTLE LOCHIEL, was
of mature age at the time of the rebellion of
1745. He was born at Achnacarrie, Lochiel,
Inverness-shire, but the date of his birth is

not known. His father, Colonel John Came-
ron of Lochiel, who was attainted and for-
feited for his share in Mar's rebellion of 1715,
and had retired to the continent, was son of
Sir Ewen [q. v.] On the death of his grand-
father in 1719, and during his father's exile,
Donald succeeded as chief of the clan Came-
ron, and like his ancestors was loyal to the
Stuarts. His mother was Isabel, daughter
of Alexander Campbell of Lochnell.

Early in 1745 James Stuart (the elder Pre-

tender) openedup negotiations with Cameron.
The young Pretender, Charles Stuart, landed
at Borodale, Lochnanuagh, and threw him-
self on the loyalty of the highlanders on
28 July 1745. The undertaking was appa-
rently so desperate that Cameron sent his

brother Archibald, the physician [q. v.], to-

reason with the prince. At a subsequent con-
ference Cameron advised the prince to hide
in the highlands until supplies arrived from
the French court. '

Stay at home and learn
from the newspapers the fate of your prince !

'

was the taunt that stung Cameron beyond
endurance. ' No !

' was the answer,
' I will

share the fate of my prince, and so shall

every man over whom nature or fortune has

given me power.' Had Cameron held back,
no other highland chief would have declared

for the Pretender. The mustering ofthe clans

was to be at Glenfinnan on 19 Aug. ;
Came-

ron arrived with eight hundred clansmen.

Charles Stuart at once declared war against
the elector of Hanover, and was proclaimed

sovereign of the empire,
' James VIII.' The

prince stayed a few days at Cameron's house
at Achnacarrie, where an agreement was

formally drawn up and signed by all con-

cerned.

The prince commenced his daring march at

the head of twelve hundred men, two-thirds

being Camerons. On crossing the Forth the

highlanders were intent on plunder, but asum-

mary act ofjustice by Cameron on a marauder,

coupled with his just and humane orders as

to discipline, gave his miscellaneous army an

honourable character for forbearance. The

insurgents were unopposed in their march to

Edinburgh. Some leading citizens were re-

turning from a mission to the prince, and as

they were entering the West Port in a coach,
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Cameron poured in his men, disarmed the i

guards, and captured the city on the morning
of 17 Sept. Other successes followed, mainly
due to Cameron. When a question of pre-
cedence was raised before the affair of Pres-

tonpans, he waived his claim in favour of

the Macdonalds, 'lords of the isles.' At
Prestonpans the Carnerons distinguished
themselves, striking at the horses' heads
with their claymores, taking no heed of the !

riders. The expedition in two divisions, !

passing southwards, met at Derby. There
j

it was decided to return, and by 20 Dec.
|

Scotland was reached. Falkirk was taken !

by Cameron, who was wounded there ; Stir-

ling Castle was besieged but not taken
;
and

desultory fighting filled up the months of

January and February. Throughout the

campaign Cameron's prudence, courage, and

clemency are generally praised. He was a

principal leader at Culloden, 16 April 1746 ;

but it was in direct opposition to his counsel
that the attempt was made of a night sur-

prise of Cumberland's army. Charles rode
offthe field, but Cameron was severely woun-
ded, and was borne off by his clansmen.
Cameron was attainted and forfeited, 1 June,

but found a refuge in his native district for

two months : then returned to the borders
of Rannoch, and lay in a miserable hovel on
the side ofBenalder to be cured of hiswounds,
his cousin, Cluny Macdonald, bringing him
his food. One day (30 Aug.) he and his few
attendants were about to fire on an approach-
ing party of men taken for enemies, when
Cameron discovered them to be Prince Charles
and Archibald Cameron, with a few guides.
Soon after two French vessels arrived, and
the prince, Cameron, his brother, and a hun-
dred other refugees embarked, and safely
reached the coast of Brittany, 29 Sept.
When fully recovered Cameron received

command of the regiment of Albany in the
French service, Prince Charles being Count
of Albany. In the French chronicles of
the time we read of Cameron attending the
'

young chevalier
' on his visit to Versailles

as his ' master of the horse.' His father died
at Nieuport in Flanders, after a long exile

of thirty-three years, in 1748. In the same
year Cameron died. By his wife, Anne,
daughter of Sir James Campbell, fifth baron

Auchinbreck, he had three sons and four

daughters: John, who succeeded to his
father's Albany regiment, and was after-

wards captain of Royal Scots in the French
service, died 1762

; James, captain of Royal
Scots in the same service, died 1759 ; Charles,
who succeeded to his father's highland claims,
held from the British crown leases of some
of the estates on easy terms, and a commis-

sion in the 71st Highlanders, to which he
added a company of clansmen of his own
raising. On the regiment being ordered on

foreign service while he was ill in London,
the Camerons refused to march without him.

Hastening to Glasgow to appease them, his

strength was exhausted, and he died soon
after. His descendant, Donald Cameron,
late M.P. county Inverness, is the represen-
tative of the house of Camerons of Lochiel.

Of the four daughters of Cameron, Isabel and
Harriet married officers in the French ser-

vice ;
Janet became a nun

;
and Donalda died

young.
Bromley, in his 'Catalogue of Engraved

Portraits,' mentions a portrait of Cameron,
'

whole-length in a highland dress,' but omits

the names of artist and engraver. When Sir

Walter Scott was in Rome in 1832, he visited

the Villa Muti at Fiescati, which had been

many years the favourite residence ofthe Car-

dinal of York, who was bishop of Tusculuna.
In a picture there of a fete given on the car-

dinal's promotion Scott discovered a portrait
like a picture he had formerly seen of Came-
ron of Lochiel, whom he described as ' a dark,
hard-featured man.'

[Culloden Papers, 1815; Douglas's Baronage
of Scotland, i. 328 ;

Scott's Tales of a Grand-

father, c. 75 ; Chambers's History ofthe Rebellion ;

Boswell's Tour to the Western Isles; Lockhart

Papers, ii. 439, 479; Scots Mag. 1746, pp. 39,

174 ; Bromley's Cat. of Engraved Portraits, p.
303 ; Notes and Queries, 4th series, vii. 334 ;

Lockhart's Life of Scott, p. 747 ; various Histories

of Scotland, under date A.D. 1745-6.] J. W.-G.

CAMERON, SIR EWEN or EVAN
(1629-1719), of Lochiel, highland chief, was
descended from a family who were able to

trace their succession as chiefs from John,
surnamed Ochtery, who distinguished him-
self in the service of King Robert I and

King David. He was the seventeenth in

descent from John Ochtery, being the eldest

son ofJohn M'Allan Cameron, and Margaret,
eldest daughter of Sir Robert Campbell, then

of Glenfalloch, afterwards of Glenurchy,
grandfather of John Campbell, eighth earl of

Breadalbane [q. v.] He was born in the castle

of Kilchurn, the seat of Sir Robert Campbell,
in February 1629. His father having died

in his infancy, the first seven years of his life

were passed with his foster-father, Cameron
of Latter-Finlay, after which he was taken
in charge by his uncle. Having in his

twelfth year been placed in the hands of the

Marquis of Argyll as a hostage for the be-

havi,our of the Camerons, he attended the

school at Inverary. The marquis had in-

tended him to study at Oxford, but the un-

settled state of the country prevented them
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proceeding further south than Berwick.
While with the marquis during the meeting
of the parliament at St. Andrews in Sep-
tember 1646, Cameron found an opportunity,

j

without the knowledge of the marquis, of

visiting Sir Robert Spotiswood, then a

prisoner in the castle, under sentence of

death, whose conversation is said to have
|

had a powerful effect in attaching him to

the royal cause. His life at Inverary be-
:

came irksome, and in his eighteenth year he

privately told his uncle of his wish to return

home. The principal gentlemen of the clan
j

Cameron addressed the marquis on his be- !

half, who complied with their request, and

young Cameron was conducted to his terri-

tory of Lochaber with great pomp by the

whole body of the clan, who went a day's

journey to meet him. After his return he

spent a great part of his time in hunting in

his extensive forests, and especially in de-
!

stroying the foxes and the wolves which
still tenanted the highlands. In 1680 he is

said to have killed with his own hand the

last wolf that was seen in the highlands.
Few in the highlands were his equal in the

use of the weapons of war or of the chase.

In stature he was ' of the largest size,' and
his finely proportioned frame manifested a

perfect combination of grace and strength.
Lord Macaulay styled him 'the Ulysses of

the Highlands,' and the title at least indi-

cates not inaptly the peculiar combination
of gifts to which he owed his special as-

cendency. Shortly after his return to his es-
|

tates he found an opportunity of manifesting
something of his mettle in chastising Mac-
donald of Keppoch and Macdonald of Glen-

garry, both of whom had refused to pay him
certain sums of money they owed him as

chief of the Camerons. After the execution

of Charles I he responded to the act for levy-

ing an army in behalf of Charles II, but the

backwardness of his followers, or his distrust

of Argyll, delayed him so much, that when,
with about a thousand of his followers, on
the way to join the king's forces at Stirling,
he was intercepted by Cromwell, and com-

pelled to turn back. He was, however, the
first of the chiefs to join Glencairn in the
northern highlands in 1652, bringing with
him about seven hundred of his clan. Having
received the appointment of colonel, he dis-

tinguished himself on numerous occasions,

especially in defending the pass of Tulloch,
at Braemar, against the whole force of the

English, when Glencairn on retreating had

neglected to send orders for him to fall back.

For his conduct he received a special letter of

thunks from King Charles, dated 3 Nov. 1653.

Cameron persevered in his resistance to Gene-

ral Monck, the English commander, for a con-
siderable time after Glencairn had come to
terms with him, and continued pertinaciously
to harass the English troops stationed on the
borders of his territory, notwithstanding the
efforts of Monck to win him over by the offer
of large bribes. To hold Cameron in check,
Monck resolved to establish a military station
at Inverlochy, at the foot of Ben Nevis, and by
ship transported thither two thousand troops,
with material and workmen for the erection
of the fort. On learning of their arrival
Cameron hurried down with all his men, but
already found the defence so strong as to ren-
der a direct attack hopeless. Dismissing the
bulk of his men to drive the cattle into places
of greater security, and to find provisions for
a more lengthened stay in the neighbourhood,
he withdrew with thirty-two gentlemen of
the clan and his personal servants to a wood
on the other side of the loch, where he lay
in concealment to watch events. Obtaining
information by spies that a hundred and fifty
men were to be sent across to the side of
the loch where he was concealed to forage
for provisions and obtain supplies of timber,
he resolved, notwithstanding their numbers
were four to one, to attack them in the act
of pillaging. Some of the gentlemen having
objected, lest no successor to the chiefdom
should be left, he tied his brother Alan to a
tree to reserve him as the future head of the
clan. In the desperate conflict which en-
sued an Englishman covered Cameron with
his musket, and was about to pull the trigger,
when his brother Alan who had persuaded
the boy in charge of him to cut the cords

which bound him to the tree appeared upon
the scene, in the nick of time to save the

chiefs life by shooting down his opponent.
The onslaught of the highlanders was so

sudden and furious that the Englishmen
were soon in flight to their ships. In the

pursuit Cameron came up with the commander
of the party, who remained in wait for him
behind a bush. After a desperate struggle,
Cameron killed his opponent by seizing his

throat with his teeth. The combat formed
the model for Sir Walter Scott's description
of the fight between Roderick Dhu and
FitzJames in the '

Lady of the Lake.' In
various other raids against the garrisons
Cameron made his name a word of terror, but
when the other chiefs had all withdrawn,
he received a letter from General Middleton

advising him to capitulate. Cameron there-

upon captured three English colonels in an
inn near Inverary, and retaining two of them
as hostages, despatched the third to General

Monck with overtures of submission. Satis-

factory terms were soon arranged, and were
TT2
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confirmed by Monck 5 June 1658, no oaths

being required of the Camerons but their

word ofhonour, and permission being granted
them to carry their arms as formerly. Repa-
ration was also made to Cameron for the wood
cut down by the garrison at Inverlochy, and
for other losses, as well as indemnity for all

acts of depredation committed by his men.
When Monck marched south to London with

the design of restoring Charles II, he was

accompanied by Cameron, who was present
when Charlesmade his entry into London. He
was received at court with every mark of

favour, but his services on behalf of the royal
cause met with little substantial recognition.

Through the influence of the Duke of Lauder-

dale his claims on certain of the forfeited

lands of Argyll were not only disregarded,
but a commission of fire and sword was used

against him as a rebellious man who held

certain lands in high contempt of royal

authority. The chief of the Macintoshes

who undertook to execute this commission

was easily worsted by Cameron. Though
Charles on one occasion facetiously alluded

to Cameron in his presence as the '

king of

thieves,' it does not appear that Lauderdale

received from Charles much countenance in

his procedure against him, which proved

practically fruitless. In 1681 Cameron visited

Holyrood to solicit the pardon of some of his

men, who, by mistake, had fired with fatal

effect on a party of the Atholl men. His

request was immediately granted, and he

received the honour of knighthood.
The restoration of Argyll to his estates in

1689 was not more distasteful to any other of

the highland chiefs than it was to Cameron,
who had taken possession of a part of his for-

feited lands. It was at Cameron's house in

Lochaber, an immense pile of timber, that, in

answer to the summons of the fiery cross, the

clans gathered in 1690 under Dundee, and al-

though overtures were made to him from the

government promising him concessions from

Argyll, and even offering him a sum of money
to hold aloof from the rebellion, he declined

to return to them any answer. His influ-

ence was of immense importance to Dundee,
who at a council of war proposed a scheme
for bringing the clans under similar disci-

pline to that of a regular army, but Cameron
on behalf of the chiefs strongly opposed it.

It was chiefly owing to his advice that Dun-
dee resolved to attack General Mackay as he

was entering the pass ofKilliecrankie.
'

Fight,

my lord,' he said,
'

fight immediately ; fight
if you have only one to three. Our men are

in heart. Their only fear is that the enemy
should escape. Give them their way, and be

assured that they will either perish or win

a complete victory.' These words decided
Dundee. Cameron strongly advised Dundee
to be content with overlooking the arrange-
ments and issuing the commands, but with-
out success. When the word was given to

advance, Cameron took off his shoes and

charged barefooted at the head of his clan,

Mackay's own foot being the division of the

enemy which by the impetuous rush of the
Camerons were driven into headlong flight.
After the death of Dundee, Cameron, in order
to prevent the coalition of the clans from

breaking up, was strong for energetic action

against Mackay, and on his advice being
disregarded by General Cannon, he retired

to Lochaber, leaving his eldest son in com-
mand of his men. Shortly afterwards Gene-
ral Cannon was defeated at Dunkeld, and the

highlanders returned home. A gathering of
the clans was planned for the following sum-
mer. Cameron was then in bed from a wound
at first believed to be mortal, which he had
received in endeavouring to prevent a com-
bat. When Breadalbane endeavoured to in-

duce the clans to give in their submission, on
the promise of a considerable sum of money,
Cameron at first endeavoured to thwart the

negotiations, having very strong doubts as
to Breadalbane's real intentions; but after

the proclamation of August 1692 requiring
submission by 1 January following, he ceased
to advise further resistance. ' I will not,' he

said,
' break the ice

;
that is a point of honour

with me
;
but my tacksmen and people may

use their freedom.' In the rebellion of 1714,
being too infirm to lead his vassals, he en-
trusted the command of them to his son.

The result of the battle of Sheriffmuir caused
him much chagrin, and having inquired into
the conduct of his clan in the battle, he
mourned their degeneracy with great bitter-

ness, saying of them to his son :
' The older

they grow the more cowardice
;
for in Oliver's

days yourgrandfatherwith hismencould fight
double their number, asI right wellremember

'

(PATTEN'S History of the Rebellion in 1715,

pp. 197-8). Writing in 1717 Patten says of
Cameron :

' He is a gentleman though old of a
sound judgment, and yet very healthful and

strong in constitution.' This is corroborated

by the account of his death in the Balhadie

papers (Memoir of Sir Ewen Cameron, edi-

tor's introduction, p. 24) : 'His eyes retained
their former vivacity, and his sight was so

good in his ninetieth year, that he could dis-

cern the most minute object, and read the
smallest print ;

nor did he so much as want
a tooth, which to me seemed as white and
close as one would have imagined they were
in the twentieth year of his age.' He died
of a high fever in February 1719. In his
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many encounters it never chanced that his
;

time in the quartermaster-general's depart-
blood on any occasionwas drawn by an enemy,

j

rnent in the Madras presidency, he was trans-
He was thrice married: first,toMary, daughter ! ferred,in consequence of ill-health, to the in-
of Sir Donald Macdonald, eighth baron and

j

valid establishment. Subsequently, in 1856,
first baronet of Sleat, by whom he had no he was commandant of the Nilgiri Hills, the
issue; secondly, to Isabel, eldest daughter! duties ofwhich post were principally of a civil
of Sir Lachlan Maclean of Duart, by whom character. Having retired from the service
he had three sons and four daughters ;

and i of the East India Company early in 1858, he
thirdly, to Jean, daughter of Colonel David was present with the Austrian army in the

Barclay of Uric, by whom he had one son Italian campaign of the following year. He
T T 1 , TT* 11.1 /"IT" ,1 . O i

and seven daughters. His eldest son (by his

second wife), John Cameron (attainted 1715,
died 1745), was father of Donald Cameron

[q. v.], and great-grandfather of John Came-
ron (1771-1815) [q. v.]

[Memoirs of Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel,
chief of the clan Cameron, supposed to have
been written by one John Drummond (Banna-
tyne Club, 1842) ;

Life of Sir Ewen Cameron
of Lochiel, in appendix to Pennant's Tour in

Scotland
;
Mackenzie's History of the Camerons

(1884), pp. 94-212; Patten's History of the Re-
bellion in 1715 (171 7); Papers illustrative of the

Highlands of Scotland (Maitland Club, 1845) ;

Leren and Melville Papers (Bannatyne Club,

1843); Hill Burton's History of Scotland; Mac-

aulay's History of England.] T. F. H.

CAMERON, GEORGE POULETT
(1806-1882), colonel, an Indian officer, was
the son ofCommander Robert Cameron, R.N.,
who perished with the greater part of his crew
under the batteries of Fort St. Andero (Sant-

ander),on the north coast of Spain, on 22 Jan.

1807. He was appointed a cadet ofinfantry
at Madras in 1821, and in 1824 and 1825
served as adjutant of a light field battalion

under Lieutenant-general Sir C. Deacon in

the southern Mahratta country. Return-

ing to England in 1831, he shortly afterwards

joined the expedition to Portugal organised

by Don Pedro to recover the throne for his

daughter, the late Queen Maria II. Cameron
was attached to the staff of field-marshal

the Duke of Terceira, under whose command
he distinguishedhimself in two actions fought
on 4 March and 5 July 1833, receiving special
commendation on the second occasion for

having remained at his post after being se-

verely wounded. A few years later he was
sent on particular service to Persia, and was

was the author ofthe following works :

' Per-
sonal Adventures and Excursions in Georgia,
Circassia, and Russia,' 2 vols. 1848; 'The
Romance of Military Life, being souvenirs
connected with thirty years' service,' 1853.
He died in London in 1882.

[Ann. Reg. 1882; India Office Records.]
A. J. A.

CAMERON, HUGH (1705-1817), mill-

wright, was a native of the Breadalbane dis-

trict of Perthshire. After serving an appren-
ticeship as a country millwright he settled

at Shiain of Lawers, where he erected the
first lint mill in operation in the highlands
of Scotland. He was the first to introduce

spinning-wheels andjackreels in Breadalbane
instead of the distaff and spindle, and in-

structed the people in their use. Nearly all

the lint mills erected during his time in the

highlands of Perthshire and in the counties
of Inverness, Caithness, and Sutherland were
constructed by him. It was he who designed
the first barley mill built on the north side

of the Forth, for which a song, very popular
in the highlands, was composed in his honour,
entitled 'Moladh di Eobhan Camashran
Muilleir lin,' that is,

' A song in praise of

Hugh Cameron, the lint miller.' He died in

1817, at the reputed age of 112.

[Anderson's Scottish Nation.] T. F. H.

CAMERON, JOHN (d. 1446), bishop
of Glasgow and chancellor of Scotland, is

said to have belonged to a family of Edin-

burgh burghers, and to have drawn his

name more remotely from the Camerons of

Craigmillar, and not, aswasformerly asserted,
from the Camerons of Lochiel (ROBERTSON,
Concilia Scotiee, i. lxxii)^Kln 1422 he was

appointed official of Lothian by Archbishop
employed with the Persian army in 1836, I

Wardlawof St. Andrews (CRAWFURD). Two
1837, and 1838, commanding the garrison of

!

years later he was acting in the capacity of

Tabriz. On leaving Persia in 1838 he visited
j

secretary to the Earl of Wigtown (Decem-
the Russian garrisons in Circassia. In 1842 ber 1423), who gave him the rectory of Cam-
he held for a short time the appointment of buslang in Lanarkshire (Reg. Mag. Sig. 13

;

political agent at the titular court of the GORDON). Next July he signs as secretary
Nawab of Arcot. In 1843 he was created a

C.B., having previously received from the

government ofPortugalthe order oftheTower
and Sword, and from that of Persia the order
of the Lion and Sun. After serving for a

to the king (James I), and would appear to

have been made provost of Lincluden, near

Dumfries, within six months of this date

(ib. Nos. 4, 14). Before the close of 1425

(October) he was keeper of the privy seal
;

After
'

Concilia Scotiae, i. Ixxii).'

insert
' He may possibly be identified with the

Johannes de Camera who studied at St.

Andrews and was bachelor in 1416 and

licentiate in 1419 (Anderson, Early Records

of the University of St. Andrews
^ pp. 4, 6).'
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and by the commencement of 1427 (8 Jan.)

keeper of the great seal (ib. Nos. 25, 74).

According to Crawfurd and Gordon he had
been appointed to the latter post as early
as February and March 1425-6. By July
1428 he had been elected to the bishopric of

Glasgow (ib. 56), but does not appear to

have been consecrated till later in this year
or early in the next (ROBERTSON, with whom
cf. Reg. May. Sig. 78, for 12 Jan.) About
the same time he was made chancellor, under
which title he is found signing in December
1426 (ib. 68). According to Dr. Robertson,
Cameron was appointed to the privy seal in

April 1425, and to the great seal in March
1426. There does not seem to be any means
of ascertaining where he studied, but it is

worth while noting that he signs a charter

of the Earl of Wigtown in 1423 as ' licencia-

tus in decretis,' which, taken in connection

with the patronage of Wardlaw, may point
to his having been a student of the newly
founded university of St. Andrews, where
there had been a faculty in canon law since

1410 (GooDALL, Scotichronicon, ii. 445). Ca-

meron seems to have continued chancellor

of Scotland till May 1439, when he was
succeeded by William Crichton (Keg. Mag.
Sig. 201).
The newly appointed bishop and chancel-

lor is credited with having assisted James I

in his attacks on the ecclesiastical courts of

Scotland, and is supposed to have been the

leading spirit in the provincial council of

Perth (1427), and mainly instrumental in

drawing up the great act of parliament

passed in July this year (ROBERTSON, Con-

di. Scot. i. Ixxxi). For this offence he was
summoned to Rome by Martin V. James,

however, would not forsake his servant, and
sent an embassy (1429) to excuse the bishop
from appearing, on the plea that the duties

of the chancellorship prevented him from

quitting the kingdom. The pope's reply was
a citation to Rome, which was delivered

to the archbishop by his personal enemy,
William Croyser, archdeacon of Teviotdale,
who was thereupon (1433) driven from the

kingdom for treason, and deprived of all his

possessions and preferments (ROBERTSON,
Ixxxiii

; RAYNALDUS, ix. 228
; Excheq. Rolls

of Scotland, pref. cxi
; THEINER, 373-5).

Eugenius IV now demanded the abrogation
of the obnoxious statutes, and threatened

even the king with excommunication (1436).
Meanwhile the bishop of Glasgow had been

despatched to Italy and had persuaded the

pope (July 1436) to send a fresh legation fo

the purpose of reforming the church of Scot-

land (RATNALD. ix. 231). The king's murder
seems to have delayed the reconciliation for

some years, and it was not till the very end
of 1439 that we find Croyser commissioned to

raise the excommunications that had been
levelled against the bishop (THEINER, 375).
In the years that had intervened since

bis election to the see of Glasgow, Cameron
had been employed in many other affairs of

moment. In 1426, 1428, and 1444 he ap-

pears as the king's auditor (Excheq. Rolls,
iv. 379, 432, v. 143). In 1429-30 he was

appointed member of a commission for con-

cluding a permanent peace with England.
Seven years later he was employed on a
mission to the English court (R.YMER, x.

417, 446, 482-491, 677). About 1433 Ca-
meron was one of the two bishops whom
James I selected to represent Scotland at

the council of Basle (ROBERTSON, ii. 248,

384) ;
and it is probably in connection with

this appointment that he received a safe-

conduct for his journey through England
in October and November 1433 (RYMER,
x. 537, 563). He sat on the lay-clerical
commission of June 1445, charged with the

settlement of the long-disputed point as to

the testamentary powers of the episcopacy

(ROBERTSON, i. ciii-civ). Within the limits

of his diocese Cameron seems to have been
a vigorous administrator. In 1429 he esta-

blished six prebends in connection with his

cathedral (Reg. Episc. Glasg. ii. 340) ;
and

in the course of three years caused an inven-

tory of all the ornaments and books belonging
to the church of Glasgow to be taken (ib. h.

329). About 1430 he built the great tower
of the episcopal palace, where his arms were
still to be seen in the last century (!NNES,

Sketches, 58-9 ; GORDON), and continued the

chapter-house commenced by his predecessor.
He appears to have died in the castle of

Glasgow on Christmas eve 1446 (Short Chro-

nicle of Scotland, quoted in GORDON). There
does not seem to be any valid foundation for

Spotiswood's charge that Cameron was of a

cruel and covetous disposition ;
and still less

is any credit to be attached to the legend of

terror with which the story of his death has

been embellished (BTJCHANAN). The circum-

stances of this legend seem to point to an
attack of apoplexy.

[Gordon's Ecclesiastical Chronicle for Scotland,

ii. 498-508 ; Crawfurd's Lives of Officers of the

Scotch Crown, 24-6
; Exchequer Rolls of Scot-

land, ed. Burnett (Scotch Rolls Series), iv. v. ;
Re-

gistrum Magni Sigilli Scotise, ed. Paul, i. (Scotch
Rolls Series) ; Concilia Scotise, ed. Robertson

(Bannatyne Club), i. Ixxxii, &c. ii. ; Raynaldi,
Annales .Ecclesiastici, ix. 228, &c.; Theiner's

Vetera Monumenta Scotiae et Hibernise, 373-5 ;

Spotiswood's History of Church of Scotland (ed.

1677), 114
;
Buchanan's Historia Scot. 1. xi. c. 25;
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Registrum Episcopatus G-lasguensis, ed. Innes
;

Imies's Sketches of Early Scotch History ; Mac-
George's Old Glasgow, 107, 116, 127.]

T. A. A.

CAMERON, JOHN (1579 P-1825), Scot-
tish theologian, was born about 1579 of re-

spectable parents in Glasgow, according to

Robert Baillie,
' in our Salt-mercat, a few

doores from the place of my birth
'

(Letters
and Journals, iii. 402). After completing the
usual course of study at Glasgow University,
he taught Greek there for a year. In 1600 he
went to Bordeaux, and having by his special
skill in Greek and Latin greatly impressed two

protestant clergymen in that city, one ofwhom
was his countryman, Gilbert Primrose [q.v.],
he was on their recommendation appointed to

teach the classical languages in the newly
founded college of Bergerac. Shortly after-

wards the Duke de Bouillonmade him profes-
sor of philosophy in the university of Sedan

;

but after two years he resigned his professor-

ship, and, returning to Bordeaux, was in the

beginning of 1604 nominated one of the stu-

dents of divinity maintained at the expense
of the protestant church at Bordeaux to pro-
secute their studies, for four years, in any
protestant seminary. He spent one year at

Paris, two at Geneva, and one at Heidelberg,
acting at the same time as tutor to the two
sons of Calignon, chancellor of Navarre. In

April 1608 he maintained in Heidelberg a
series of theses,

' De triplici Dei cum Homine
Foadere,' which have been printed among his

works. The same year he was appointed
colleague of Primrose in the church of Bor-
deaux. Having in 1617 attended on two

protestant captains condemned to death for

piracy, he printed a letter giving an account
of their last moments, entitled '

Constance,

Foy et Resolution a la mort des Capitaines

Blanquet et Gaillard,' which was ordered by
the parliament of Bordeaux to be burned by
the hands of the common executioner. The

following year he succeeded Gomarus as pro-
fessor of divinity in the university of Saumur.
In 1620 he engaged in a discussion with
Daniel Tilenus on the theological opinions of

Arminius, of which an account, under the
title

' Arnica Collatio,' was printed at Leyden
in 1621. The civil troubles in France com-

pelled him in 1620 to seek refuge in England,
and after reading private lectures on divinity
in London, he was in 1622 appointed principal
of the university of Glasgow, to succeed
Robert Boyd of Trochrig [q. v.], removed on
account of his opposition to the ' Five Articles

of Perth.' In Cameron King James found
one of the strongest supporters of his own
opinions as to the power and prerogatives of

kings (see letter of Cameron to King James,

printed in the Miscellany of the Abbotsford
Club, i. 115) ;

and Robert Baillie, D.D. [q. v.],
Avho was one of his pupils in Glasgow, states
that he drank in from him in his youth the
slavish tenet,

' that all resistance to the su-

preme magistrate in anie case was simplie
unlawful' (BAILLIE, Letters and Journals, ii.

189). His appointment to succeed Boyd,
necessarily unpopular in itself, was rendered
more so by his extreme opinions, and Cal-
derwood mentions ' that he was so misliked

by the people that he was forced not long
after to remove out of Glasco

'

(History, vii.

567). He therefore returned to Saumur,
where, however, he was only permitted to
read private lectures, his application in 1623
to the national synod of Charenton to be
reinstated in his professorship being refused,

owing to the opposition of the king, although
the synod indicated its appreciation of his

talents by voting him a donation of a thou-
sand livres. In the following year he ob-
tained the professorship of divinity in the

university of Montauban, but here again his

doctrine of passive obedience excited the in-

dignation even of his own party, and he was
one night so severely assaulted in the streets

by some unknown person that his health was

permanently impaired. He died at Montau-
ban in 1625. He was twice married. By
his first wife, Susan Bernard of Tonneins,
on the Garonne, whom he married in 1611,
he had a son and four daughters, of whom
the son and eldest daughter predeceased him ;

and by his second wife, Susan Thomas, whom
he married a few months before his death,
he left no issue.

Cameron was held in his day in very high
esteem, although he is said to have possessed
a considerable share both of irritability and

vanity. Sir Thomas Urquhart states that
' he was commonly designed (because of his

universal reading) by the title of the Walk-

ing Library
'

(UEQTTHAKT, Jewel, p. 182) ;

John Dunbar specially refers to the purity
with which he spoke the French language

(Epigrammata, p. 188) ;
his biographer, Cap-

pel, affirms that he could speak Greek with as

much fluency and elegance as another could

speak Latin
;
and Milton, in his ' Tetrachor-

don,' characteriseshim 'as an ingenious writer

and in high esteem.' He was the author

of: 1.
'

Santangelus, sive Steliteuticus in

Eliam Santangelum causidicum/LaRochelle,
1616. 2. 'Trait 6 auquel sont examinez les

prejugez de ceux de 1 eglise Romaine coutre

la Religion ReformSe,' La Rochelle, 1617,
translated into English under the title,

' An
Examination of those plausible appearances
which seem most to commend the Romish
church and to prejudice the Reformed,' Ox-
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ford, 1626. 3.
' Theses de Gratia et Libero

Arbitrio,' Saumur, 1618. 4. ' Theses XLII.
Theol. de Necessitate Satisfactionis Christi

pro Peccatis,' Saumur, 1620. 5.
'

Sept Ser-

mons sur le cap. vi. de 1'Evangile de S. Jean,'

Saumur, 1624. After his death there ap-

peared, under the editorship of his pupil,
Louis Cappel : 6.

' Joh. Cameronis, S. Theo-

logiae in Academia Salmuriensi nuper Pro-

fessoris, Prselectiones in selectiora qusedam
N. T. loca Salmurii habitae,' Saumur, 1626-8,
3 torn. 7.

'

Myrothecium Evangelicum, in

quo aliquot loca Novi Testament! explican-
tur : una cum Spicilegio Ludovici Cappelli
de eodem argumento cumque 2 Diatribis in

Matth. xv. 5 de Voto Jephtse,' Geneva, 1632,
4to

;
another edition, with a different sub-

title, Saumur, 1677. 8.
' Joannis Cameronis,

Scoto-Britanni, Theologi eximii, TO. o-(06p.tva,

sive Opera partim ab auctore ipso edita, par-
tim post ejus obitum vulgata, partim nusquam
hactenus publicata, vel e Gallico idiomate

nunc primum in Latinam linguam translata :

in unum collecta, et variis indicibus instructa,'

Geneva, 1642, with memoir of the author by
Cappel prefixed, under the title

' Joh. Came-
ronis Icon.'

[Memoir by Cappel ; Bayle's Dictionary (Eng-
lish translation), ii. 284-9

;
Robert Baillie's

Letters and Journals, passim ; Dempster's Hist.

Eccles. Gent. Scot. ; Irving's Scottish Writers,
i. 333-46 ; Chambers's Biog. Diet, of Eminent

Scotsmen, i. 273-5.] T. F. H.

CAMERON, JOHN (1724-1799), pres-

byterian minister, was born in 1724 near Edin-

burgh. Having served his apprenticeship to

a bookseller in Edinburgh, he entered the

university and took his M.A. degree. He
belonged to the ' reformed presbyterians,' or
'

covenanters,' andwas admitted a probationer
of that body. Going as a missionary to the

north of Ireland about 1750, he travelled

in various districts of Ulster as an outdoor

preacher. His labours as a ' mountain minister '

met with large acceptance. In 1754 therewas
a division in the presbyterian congregation of

Billy (otherwise Bushmills), co. Antrim, part

adhering to their minister, John Logue, and

part going off to form the new congregation
of Dunluce. The Dunluce people offered to

give a call to Cameron if he would leave

the covenanters and join the regular presby-
terian body. He consented. On 24 April
1755 the call was signed by 137 persons, and
on 3 June Cameron was ordained by the pres-

bytery of Route, having distinguished him-
self in the course of his '

trials
'

as an ex-

temporary preacher. His subsequent course

was scarcely in accordance with his antece-

dents. Though an active pastor, he found

time for a renewal of his studies, and became
noted as a writer of sermons, which were

freely borrowed by his friends for use both
in episcopal and presbyterian pulpits. He
was dining one day with ' a dignitary of the

established church,' when the conversation
turned on Dr. John Taylor's

'

Scripture Doc-
trine of Original Sin,' which Cameron had
never seen. His host made him take the
book home with him, thoughCameron

' would
as soon have been accompanied by his Satanic

majesty.' A perusal of the book produced
' a

complete and entire change
'

in his theology.
He got much beyond Taylor, adopting hu-
manitarian views of the person of Christ.

Cameron also turned his attention to science.

Being in want of a parish schoolmaster, he
took into his house Robert Hamilton (1752-
1831), the promising son of a neighbouring
weaver, trained him for his work, and intro-

duced him to the study of anatomy. Hamil-
ton afterwards became a physician of some
distinction at Ipswich, and snowed his gra-
titude to Cameron by dedicating to him ' The
Duties of a Regimental Surgeon,' 1794, 2 vols.

In 1768 Cameron was moderator of the

general synod of Ulster. His year of office

was marked by the renewal of intercourse

between the synod and the Antrim presby-
tery, excluded for non-subscription in 1726,
and by the publication of Cameron's only
acknowledged work, a prose epic. He wrote

anonymously several works (often in the
form of dialogues) attacking from various

points of view the principle of subscription
to creeds. The authorship of these able

productions was no secret; but the extent
of Cameron's doctrinal divergence from the

standards of his church was not publicly
revealed till nearly thirty years after his

death. A paper rejecting the doctrine of the
resurrection of the body was forwarded by
Cameron to Archdeacon Blackburne, in ex-

pectation of a reply. Blackburne sent the

paper to Priestley, who published it in his
'

Theological Repository,' vol. ii. 1771, with
the signature of ' Philander '

(' Philander,'
in later volumes, is one of the many signa-
tures of Joseph Bretland). This led to a

correspondence between Priestley and Came-
ron, and to the settlement of Cameron's son,

William, as a button-maker in Birmingham.
In 1787-9 Cameron got a double portion of

regium donum
;
his means were always very

small. He died on 31 Dec. 1799, and was
buried in the parish churchyard of Dunluce,
a picturesque spot on the road between Port-

rush and the Giant's Causeway. A striking

elegy on his grave was written by Rev. George
Hill, formerly librarian of Queen's College,
Belfast. Besides his son, Cameron left a daugh-
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ter, married to John Boyd ofDunluce. Came-
ron's writings were : 1.

' The Policy of Satan
to destroy the Christian Religion,' n.d. (1767,

anon.) 2.
' The Messiah

;
in nine books,' Bel-

fast, 1768
; reprinted with memoir, Dublin,

1811, 12mo. 3.
' The Catholic Christian,' &c.

Belfast, 1769, 16mo (anon.) 4.
' The Catholic

Christian defended,' &c. Belfast, 1771, 16mo

(in reply to Benjamin M'Dowell, D.D., who
attacked him by name. Cameron, however,

published his defence with the pseudonym of
' Philalethes '). 5.

'

Theophilus and Philan-

der,' &c. Belfast, 1772, 16mo (an anonymous
reply to M'Dowell's rejoinder). 6.

' Forms
of Devotion,' &c. Belfast, 1780. 7. 'The
Doctrines of Orthodoxy,' &c. Belfast, 1782,
12mo (republished 1817, with title, 'The
Skeleton covered with Flesh

').
8.

' The
State of our First Parents,' &c. (mentioned

by Witherow). Posthumous was 9, 'The
Doctrine of the Holy Scriptures,' &c. 1828,
16mo (known to have been edited by Arthur
Nelson (d. 20 June 1831), presbyterian mi-
nister of Kilmore, otherwise Rademon. The
list of subscribers is almost entirely English).

[Monthly Kev. May 1776; Monthly Eepos.
(1831), 720 ; Bible, Christian (1837), 203

;
Eeid's

Hist. Presb. Church in Ireland (Killen) (1867),
iii. 330, 336 ;

Witherow's Hist, and Lit. Mem.
of Presb. in Ireland (2nd ser. 1880), 122, 145

;

Disciple (Belfast, May 1883), p. 127 (Article by
Eev. W. S. Smith, Antrim), June 1883, p. 183.]

A. G.

CAMERON, JOHN (1771-1815), of

Fassiefern, colonel, Gordon Highlanders, a

great-grandson of John Cameron eighteenth
of Lochiel [see CAMERON, SIR EWEN, adfin.~],
was one ofthe six children of Ewen Cameron
of Inverscadale, on Linnha Loch, and after-

wards of Fassiefern, in the parish of Kil-

mallie, both in Argyleshire, by his first wife

Lucy Campbell of Balwardine, and was born
at Inverscadale on 16 Aug. 1771. Nursed

by the wife of a family retainer, whose son,
Ewen McMillan, was his foster-brother and
faithful attendant through life, young Came-
ron grew up in close sympathy with the tra-

j

ditions and associations of his home and

people, who looked to his father as the re-

presentative head of the clan in the en-
forced absence of the chief of Lochiel. He
received his schooling in part at the grammar
school at Fort William, but chiefly by private
tuition. Later he entered the university of

King's College, Aberdeen. He was articled

to a writer to the signet at Edinburgh, James
Fraser of Gorthleck, but after the outbreak
of the war, at his special request, a commis-
sion was procured for him, and he entered

the army in May 1793 as ensign, 26th Came-

ronians, from which he was promoted to a

lieutenancy in an independent highland
company, which was embodied with the old
93rd foot (Shirley's, afterwards broken up
in Demerara). In the year following, the

Marquis of Huntly, afterwards last Duke of

Gordon, then a captain, 3rd foot guards,
raised a corps of highlanders at Aberdeen,
which originally was numbered as the 100th
foot, but a few years later was re-numbered,
and has since become famous as the 92nd
Gordon Highlanders. Cameronwas appointed
to a company in this regiment on 24 June
1794. He served with it in Corsica and at

Gibraltar in 1795-7, and in the south of Ire-
land in 1798. There he is said to have lost

his heart to a young Irish lady at Kilkenny,
but the match was broken off in submission
to his father's commands. The next year
saw him in North Holland, where he was
wounded in the stubborn fight among the
sandhills between Bergen and Egmont op
Zee on 2 Oct. 1799, one of the few occa-
sions on which bayonets have been fairly
crossed by contending lines. He was with
the regiment at the occupation of Isle Houat,
on the coast of Brittany, and off Cadiz in

1800, and went with it to Egypt, where he
was wounded at the battle of Alexandria,
and received the gold medal given by the

Ottoman Porte for the Egyptian campaign.
He became major in the regiment in 1801,
and lieutenant-colonel of the new second
battalion (afterwards disbanded) on 23 June
1808. After some years passed chiefly in

Ireland, Cameron rejoined the first bat-

talion of his regiment soon after its return

from Corunna, and commanded it in the

Walcheren expedition, subsequently pro-

ceeding with it to Portugal, where it landed,
8 Oct. 1810. At its head he signalised him-
self repeatedly during the succeeding cam-

paigns, particularly at Fuentes de Onoro,
5 May 1811

;
at Arroyo dos Molinos,28 Oct.

1811; at Almaraz, 19 May 1812; and at

Vittoria, 21 June 1813, where his services

appear to have been strangely overlooked in

the distribution of rewards
;
at the passage

of Maya, 13 July 1813 (see NAPIER^ Hist.

v. 219-21) ;
at the battles on the Nive be-

tween 9 and 13 Dec. 1813 (ib. p. 415); at

the passage of the Gave at Arriverette,

17 Feb. 1814
;
and at the capture of the

town of Aire (misprinted 'Acre' in many
accounts), 2 March 1814. Some particulars
of the armorial and other distinctions granted
to Cameron in recognition of his sen-ices on

several of these occasions will be found in

Cannon's 'Historical Record, 92nd High-
landers.' In the Waterloo campaign the 92nd,
under Cameron, with the 42nd Highlanders,
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1st Royals, and 44th, formed Pack's brigade
of Picton's division, and were among the first

troops to march out of Brussels at daybreak
on 16 June 1815. On that day, when head-

ing part of the regiment in an attack on a

house where the enemy was strongly posted,
on the Charleroi road, a few hundred yards
from the village of Quatre Bras, Cameron
received his death-wound. He was buried in

an allee verte beside the Ghent road, during
the great storm of the 17th, by his foster-

brother and faithful soldier-servant, private
Ewen McMillan, who had followed his for-

tunes from the first day he joined the service,
Mr. Gordon, the regimental paymaster, a

close personal friend, and a few soldiers of
!

the regiment whose wounds prevented their
j

taking their places in the ranks. At the
j

request of the family, however, Cameron's
j

remains were disinterred soon afterwards, i

brought home in a man-of-war, and, in the

presence of a gathering of three thousand

highlanders from the then still populous dis-

trict of Lochaber, were laid in Kilmallie

churchyard, where a tall obelisk, bearing an

inscription by Sir Walter Scott, marks the site

of his grave. In 1817 a baronetcy was con-
ferred on Ewen Cameron of Fassiefern, in

recognition of the distinguished military ser-

vices of his late son. Sir Ewen died in 1828,
at the age of ninety, and the baronetcy has
since become extinct on the demise, some

years ago, of Sir Duncan Cameron, younger
brother of Colonel Cameron, and second and
last baronet of Fassiefern.

About thirty years ago a memoir of Came-
ron was compiled from family sources by the
Rev. A. Clerk, minister of Kilmallie, two
editions of which were privately printed in

Glasgow. In addition to many interesting
details, which testify to the keen personal
interest taken by Cameron in his highland sol-

diers and to his kindly nature, the work con-
tains a well-executed lithographic portrait ot

him in the full dress of the regiment, and

wearing the insignia of the Portuguese order
of the Tower and Sword, with other decora-

tions, after an engraved portrait taken just
before his fall, and published by C. Turner,

London, 1815.

[Burke's Landed Gentry, vol. i.
; Army Lists

and War Office Muster-Roils
;

Cannon's Hist.

Rec.92nd Highlanders; Napier's Hist. Peninsular

War; Siborne's Waterloo; Clerk's Memoir of
Colonel John Cameron, 2nded. (privately printed,

Glasgow, 1858), 4to
;
Gent. Mag. vol. xcix. pt. i.

p. 87.] H. M. C.

CAMERON, SIR JOHN (1773-1844),
general, was the second son of John Cameron
of Calchenna, and nephew of John Cameron

of Caltort, the head of a branch of the great
clan Cameron, and a descendant of Lochiel.

He was born on 3 Jan. 1773 ;
was educated

at Eton, and on 25 April 1787 received his

first commission as an ensign in the 43rd re-

giment. On 30 Sept. 1790 he was promoted
lieutenant, and on 11 July 1794 captain in the

same regiment. In 1793 his regiment was one
of those which formed Sir Charles Grey's ex-

pedition to the West Indies
;
he was present

at the capture of the islands of Martinique,
St. Lucia, and Guadeloupe, and was especially

distinguished at the storming of Fort Fleur

d'Epee in the latter island, where he won his

captaincy. In 1794 Sir Charles Grey returned

to England, in the beliefthat his West Indian

conquests were safe, and the 43rd regiment,
which had been so reduced by sickness that

Cameron, though only a junior captain, com-
manded it, formed part of the garrison of the

Berville camp under Brigadier-general Gra-

ham, who had been left in charge of the island

of Guadeloupe. Victor Hugues, the commis-

sary of the French republic in the W^est In-

dies, then organised an army out of the beaten

French soldiers, the negro slaves, and the

Caribs, reconquered St. Lucia, and in the au-

tumn of 1794 attacked Guadeloupe. His first

assaultupon the Berville camp on 30 Sept. was

unsuccessful, but on 4 Oct. the camp was car-

ried, and Cameron was wounded and made

prisoner. He remained in France as a prisoner
of war for more than two years, but in 1797
was exchanged, and immediately rejoined his

regiment in the West Indies. There he re-

mained till 1800, when he was promoted
major, and brought his regiment home, after

it had suffered terrible losses from the West
Indian climate. On 28 May 1807 Cameron
was appointed lieutenant-colonel of the 7th
West India regiment, and on 5 Sept. of the

same year exchanged into the 9th regiment.
In July 1808 he set sail for Portugal with the

expedition under Sir Arthur Wellesley, and
the 9th and 29th regiments were on disem-

barking brigaded together as the 3rd brigade
under Brigadier-general Catlin Craufurd.

This brigade bore the brunt of the battle of

Rolica, for it had to charge and carry the

strong position of Laborde in front, and in so

doing Colonel Stewart, of the 2nd battalion

of the 9th, was killed, and Cameron succeeded
to the command of the regiment. With it

he served at the battle of Vimeiro, in the
advance to Salamanca, and the disastrous

retreat to Corunna, and then returned to

England at its head. From July to Sep-
tember 1809 he commanded the 1st battalion

in the Walcheren expedition, and in March
1810 returned to Portugal at the head of
the 2nd battalion of the 9th, which he com-
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nianded until the end of the Peninsular war.
At the battle of Busaco on 27 Sept. 1810 he
was particularly distinguished ;

the picked

regiments of Reynier's corps d'armee had
driven in the right of the 3rd division, and
established themselves in the very heart of

the British position. General Leith ordered

up his 1st brigade to drive off the enemy, but
the ground was too rugged for them to ad-

vance. '

Meanwhile,' to quote the words of

Sir William Napier,
' Colonel Cameron, in-

formed by a staff officer of the critical state

of affairs, formed the 9th regiment in line

under a violent fire, and, without returning a

single shot, ran in upon and drove the grena-
diers from the rocks with irresistible bravery,

plying them with a destructive musketry as

long as they could be reached, and yet with
excellent discipline refraining from pursuit,
lest the crest of the position should be again
lost, for the mountain was so rugged that it

was impossible to judge clearly of the general
state of the action' (NAPIEK, Peninsular

War, book xi. chap. 7). Cameron afterwards

commanded his regiment at the battle of

Fuentes de Onoro, the siege of Badajoz, the

battle of Salamanca, the affairwith theFrench

rearguard at Osma on 18 June 1813, and the

battle of Vittoria, on all of which occasions

it formed a part of the 2nd brigade of the 5th
division under General Leith. At the siege
of San Sebastian the 9th carried the convent
of San BartholomS on 17 July 1813, when
Cameron waswounded

;
it was engaged in the

attempt of 25 July to storm San Sebastian,
and in the successful assault of31 Aug., when
Cameron was again wounded, and during the

siege operations his regiment lost two-thirds
of its officers and three-fourths of its soldiers.

In the invasion of France, as in the advance

upon Vittoria, the 5th division formed the ex-

treme left of the army ;
the 9th regiment led

the division across the Bidassoa and in the
attack on the French position, in the battle

of the Nivelle, and in the fiercely contested
battles of 9, 10, and 11 Dec. before Bayonne,
which are known as the battle of the Nive.
In these three days the 9th regiment lost

300 men
;
on 10 Dec. it was completely sur-

rounded, but charged back to the main army,
and took 400 prisoners, and on 11 Dec. Ca-
meron had his horse killed under him when
reconnoitring the village of Anglet. The loss

of the regiment in 1813 exceeded that of any
other regiment in the Peninsula, amounting
to 41 officers and 646 men killed andwounded.
Cameron was not present at Orthes or Tou-
louse, but was engaged until the end of the
war in Sir John Hope's operations before

Bayonne. On the conclusion of peace he re-

ceived many rewards. On 4 "June 1814 he

was promoted colonel, and on the extension
of the order of the Bath in January 1815 he
was made one of the first K.C.B.'s

;
he was

also made a knight of the Tower and Sword
of Portugal, and received a gold cross with
three clasps in commemoration of the six
battles and one siege at which he had com-
manded hisregiment. In 18 14 he commanded
his regiment in Canada, where he acted as

brigadier-general andcommandant ofthe gar-
rison of Kingston until 1815,when he received
the command of a brigade in the army ofoccu-

pation in France. On 19 July 1821 Cameron
was promoted major-general, and commanded
the western district from 1823 to 1833, in

which year he was appointed colonel of the
9th regiment, which he had so long com-
manded. On 10 Jan. 1837 he was promoted
lieutenant-general ;

and on 23 Nov. 1844 died
at Guernsey. He married a Miss Brock,
niece of the first Lord de Saumarez, when
stationed in Guernsey in 1803, by whom he
had a son, Sir Duncan Cameron, G.C.B., who
commanded the Black Watch at the battle

of Balaclava, and afterwards the highland
brigade in the Crimea.

[Eoyal Military Calendar ; Regimental Record
of the 9th Regiment; "Wellington Despatches;

Napier's Peninsular War
;

information contri-

buted by General Sir Duncan Cameron, G. C. B.]
H. M. S.

CAMERON, JOHN ALEXANDER (d.

1885),war correspondent, was descended from
the Camerons of Kinlochiel, and was born at

Inverness, where he was for some time a

bank clerk. Subsequently he went out to

India, and was connected with a mercantile

house in Bombay. He began contributing
to the '

Bombay Gazette,' and was for some
time acting editor, when on the outbreak of

the Afghan war in 1878 he was appointed

special correspondent. When towards the

close of the following year the war broke out

afresh, he became correspondent of the Lon-

don ' Standard.' Joining the column under

General Phayrer sent to the relief of Canda-

har, he was the first to ride with the news

of the victory of General Roberts to the

nearest telegraph post, beating all other com-

petitors by a day and a half. Then returning

to Candahar he went out to the battle-field

of Maiwand (July 1880), his description of

which established his reputation as one of the

most graphic of newspaper correspondents.
On the outbreak of the Boer insurrection

(December 1880) he crossed from Bombay
to Natal, arriving there long before the cor-

respondents from England. He was present

(January 1881) at the battles of Laing's Nek
and Ingogo, and, though taken prisoner at
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the fatal fight on Majuba Hill (February
1881), contrived on the following day to de-

spatch his famous message descriptive of the

battle. On the conclusion of peace he re-

turned to England, but on the news of the

riots in Alexandria (June 1882) he left for

Egypt, and was present on board the ad-

miral's ship Invincible at the bombardment
of the town. He afterwards continued with
the British troops throughout the Egyp-
tian campaign until their arrival in Cairo.

After a short interval he set out for Mada-

gascar, his letters from which attracted much
attention. As the French delayed their at-

tack on the island, he crossed the Pacific to

Melbourne, and thence made his way to Ton-

quin, and was present at the engagement in

which the French failed to carry the defences

which the Black Flags had erected. English
correspondents not being permitted to remain
with the French forces, he was on his way
home when Osman Digma's forces began to

threaten Souakim, and on reaching Suez he

immediately took ship for that port. When
Baker Pasha's force was crushed bythe Arabs,
he narrowly escaped with his life. He ac-

companied the British expeditionary force in

their advance upon Tokar. and witnessed the

battles of El Teb and Tamanieb. After a

short stay in England he set out to join the

Nile expedition in 1884, regarding the pro-

gress of which he sent home many telegrams
and letters. He was killed 19 Jan. 1885, two

days after the first battle at Abu Klea.

[Standard, 27 Jan. 1885 ; Illustrated London

News, with portrait, 7 Feb. 1885.] T. F. H.

CAMERON, JULIA MARGARET
(1815-1879), photographer, born at Calcutta

on 11 June 1815, was the third daughter of

James Pattle of the Bengal civil service. In
1838 shemarried Charles Hay Cameron [q. v.],

then member of the law commission in Cal-

cutta. Her other sisters married General

Colin Mackenzie [q. v.], Henry Thoby Prin-

sep [q. v.l, Dr. Jackson, M.D., Henry Vincent

Bayley, judge of the supreme court of Cal-

cutta, and nephew of HenryVincent Bayley
[q. v.], Earl Somers, and John Warrender

Dalrymple of the Bengal civil service. Miss

Pattle was well known in Calcutta society
for her brilliant conversation. She showed
her philanthropy in 1846, when, through her

energy and influence, she was able to raise a

considerable sum for the reliefof the sufferers

in the Irish famine. Mrs. Cameron came to

England with her husband and family in

1848. They resided in London, and after-

wards went to Putney, and in 1860 settled

at Freshwater in the Isle of Wight, where

they were the neighbours and friends of Lord

Tennyson. In 1875 they went to Ceylon ;

they visited England in 1878, and returned

to Ceylon, where she died on 26 Jan. 1879.

Mrs. Cameron was known and beloved by
a large circle of friends. She corresponded
with Wordsworth

;
she was well known to

Carlyle, who said, on receiving one of her

yearly valentines,
' This comes from Mrs.

Cameron or the devil.' Sir Henry Taylor, a

valued friend, says of her in his '

Autobiogra-

phy
'

(ii. 48) :
' If her husband was of a high

intellectual order, and as such naturally fell

to her lot, the friends that fell to her were
not less so. Foremost of them all were Sir

John Herschel and Lord Hardinge. . . . Sir

Edward Ryan, who had been the early friend

of her husband, was not less devoted to her

in the last days of his long life than he had
been from the times in which they first met.

... It was indeed impossible that we should

not grow fond of her impossible for us, and
not less so for the many whom her genial, ar-

dent, and generous nature has captivated
ever since.' A characteristic story of one of

her many acts of persevering benevolence is

told in the same volume (pp. 185-8). Her
influence on all classes was marked and ad-

mirable. She was unusually outspoken, but
her genuine sympathy and goodness of heart

saved her from ever alienating a friend.

At the age of fifty she took up photogra-

phy, which inher hands became trulyartistic,
instead of possessing merely mechanical ex-

cellence. She gained gold, silver, and bronze

medals in America, Austria, Germany, and

England. She has left admirable portraits
of many distinguished persons. Among her

sitters were the Crown Prince and Princess

of Prussia, Charles Darwin, Lord Tennyson,
Mr. Browning, Herr Joachim, and Sir John

Herschel, who had been her friend from her

early girlhood. Mrs. Cameron wrote many
poems, some of which appeared in ' Macmil-
lan's Magazine.' Her only separate publica-
tion was a translation of Burger's

'

Leonora,'

published in 1847.

[Personal knowledge.] J. P. S.

CAMERON, LUCY LYTTELTON
(1781-1858), writer of religious tales for

children, was born 29 April 1781, at Stan-

ford-on-Teme, Worcestershire, of which place
her father, George Butt, D.D. [q. v.], was the

vicar. Her mother was Martha Sherwood,
daughter of a London silk merchant. Mrs. Ca-
meron was the youngest of three children

John Marten, Mary Martha (the well-known

authoress, Mrs. Sherwood [q. v.]), and Lucy
Lyttelton. She took her baptismal name
from her godmother, Lady Lucy Fortescue

Lyttelton, daughter of George, the first lord
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Lyttelton
' the good lord

' who married

Viscount Valentia, afterwards Earl Mount-
norris. On Dr. Butt's death, in 1795, Mrs.

Butt and her two daughters went to live at

Bridgnorth.
Mrs. Cameron's early education was con-

ducted by her parents. She was a precocious

child, beginning Latin at seven years of age,

mastering French so as to be able to write

and think in it with almost the same facility
as in English, and afterwards studying Italian

and Greek. She speaks at a later period of

having finished reading the '
Iliad.' At eleven

years of age she went to school at Reading,
where she continued till she was sixteen.

From her earliest years she had the advantage
of intercourse with cultivated and intellectual

society. Gerrard Andrewes [q. v.], dean of

Canterbury and rector of St. James's, Picca-

dilly, was a connection by marriage, and on
her visit to his rectory she was introduced to

London society of the best kind, making the

acquaintance of Elizabeth Carter [q. v.] and

Humphry Davy, then only known as ' a young
man of promise.' Visiting Bristol, she was in-

troduced to Mrs. Hannah More, Miss Galton

(afterwards Mrs. Schimmelpenninck), and
other members of the literary coteries of that

city. In 1806 she married the Rev. C. R.

Cameron, of Christ Church, Oxford, the eldest

son of Dr. Cameron (of the Lochiel family),
a celebrated physician at Worcester. Shortly
after her marriage her husband was appointed
to a church at Donnington Wood, in the

parish of Lilleshall, Shropshire, recently built

on the estate of Lord Stafford for the colliers

of the district, their residence being at Sneds-

hill. Here she and her husband remained for

twenty-five years, devoting themselves with

unremitting labour, and with the happiest

results, to the moral and spiritual improve-
ment of their rude parishioners. While at

Snedshill she became the mother of twelve

children, the greater part ofwhom died before

her. In 1831 Mr. Cameron accepted the

living ofSwaby, near Alford, in Lincolnshire,
but continued to reside at Snedshill, serving
his old parish as curate till 1836, when he
moved to Louth, and finally, on the comple-
tion of a rectory, settled at Swaby in 1839.

While visiting the Lakes, in 1856, Mrs.
Cameron was surprised by a storm on Ulles-

water, and caught a cold from which she
never recovered, and died on 6 Sept. 1858,
and was buried at Swaby. Mrs. Cameron's
life was the quiet, laborious, unpretending
one of a clergyman's wife, and the devoted
mother of a large family. Her fame rests on
her religious tales and allegories, written

chiefly for the young. Of these Dr. Arnold
was a warm admirer. He writes :

' The

knowledge and the love of Christ can no-
where be more readily gained by young
children than from some of the short stories
of Mrs. Cameron, such as "Amelia," the" Two Lambs," the " Flower Pot " '

(ARNOLD,
Sermons, i. 45). She commenced authorship
at an early age. 'Margaret White' was
written when she was only seventeen, and
she continued her literary work more or less
all through her life. The ' Two Lambs ' was
written in 1803, but not published till 1827.
In 1816 she began to compose penny books
for the poor and ignorant. Her stories were
often based on real events, and describe the
scenes with which she was familiar, to which
the naturalness and graphicpowerwhichform
the charm of her simple stories are mainly
due. Mrs. Cameron's fame as a writer has
been rather overshadowed by that ofher elder

sister, Mrs. Sherwood. The younger sister's

writings are often attributed to the elder, and
Mrs. Cameron, who is in some respects the
better authoress, is consequently less known
than she deserves to be. She wrote rapidly.
One ofher bestknown little books,

' TheRaven
and the Dove,' occupied her only four hours.
A complete list of Mrs. Cameron's publica-
tions is prefixed to the second edition of her

life, by her son, the Rev. G.-T. Cameron.
Besides those already mentioned, the best
known are 'Emma and her Nurse,' 'Martin
and his Two Sunday Scholars,' 'The Bright
Shilling,' and ' The Pink Tippet.'

[Memoir by the Rev. G-. T. Cameron, 1 862 (2nd
edit. 1873); Autobiography of Mrs. Sherwood.]

. V.

CAMERON, RICHARD (d. 1680), co-

venanting leader, was born at Falkland in

Fife. He was at first schoolmaster and pre-
centor in the parish church, which had then
an episcopal incumbent, but having gone to

hear some of the field preachers, he was

powerfully impressed by their sermons, and
was won over to their side. Cameron now
espoused the cause of the most advanced
section of the presbyterians, holding that

those who had accepted the 'indulgence'
had sinned very heinously, and that their

fellowship was to be utterly shunned. His

strong views on this point made him unaccep-
table to Sir Walter and Lady Scott of Har-

den, in whose family he had been tutor for

a time. Cameron had received no university

training, but, having a gift of natural and

persuasive eloquence, he was considered by
John Welsh, Gabriel Semple, and other

leading field preachers to have a call to the

office of preacher, and was licensed by them

accordingly. In Annandale and Clydesdale
hundreds and thousands hung upon his

lips, and, moved by his tender and melting
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appeals,
'
fell into a great weeping.' In 1678

he went to Holland,where many like-minded
men were in banishment, and in his absence
a new indulgencewas proclaimed which many
accepted. Returning in 1680, he found very
few ministers to share his views. Among the

few were Donald Cargill and Thomas Dou-

glas, who met with him several times to form
a public declaration and testimony as to

the state of the church. What is commonly
called the Sanquhar declaration followed, so

named from the town of Sanquhar, where it

was published. It disowned the authority
of Charles II, and declared war against
him. It disowned likewise the Duke of

York and his right to succeed to the throne.

Substantially this was the very basis on

which, a few years after, the revolution was
effected. The work of but a handful of poor
men, it had little effect, except to embitter
the spirit of opposition, and set a price of

5,000 merks on the head of Cameron, and

3,000 on those of Donald Cargill and Thomas

Douglas. For a few weeks, notwithstanding,
Cameron, now accompanied by a small body
of armed men, went on preaching here and

there, and uttering very strong predictions

against all who should favour the royal in-

dulgence. On 22 July 1680 his party was

surprised by a body of royal troops who came

upon them at a place called Ayrsmoss or

Airdsmoss, in the parish of Auchinleck in

Ayrshire. The Cameronians resolved to re-

ceive the charge, Cameron having thrice

prayed
'

Lord, spare the green and take the

ripe,' but notwithstanding their great valour,

they were overpowered by superior numbers
and mostly cut to pieces ;

Cameron and his

brother were among the slain. The preacher's
head and hands were cut off, and by order of

the council were fixed to the Nether Bow gate
in Edinburgh.

After his death the name of Cameron,
though cherished with a kind of holy reve-

[

rence by his friends, was very often applied
vaguely by enemies to all sects or bodies
who held advanced or unusual opinions. In

particular it used to be given to the ' re-

formed presbyterians
' who would not accept

the settlement of church and state under
William and Mary. It ought to be added
that the ' reformed presbyterians

'

decline the
term '

Cameronian,' although to this day it

is applied to them in popular use in Ireland,

Scotland, and the United States.

[Biographia Presbyteriana, vol. i. ; Howie's
Scots Worthies ; Wodrow's History of the Suffer-

ings of the Church of Scotland
; Grub's Eccles.

Hist, of Scotland, vol. iii.
;
McCrie's Story of the

Scottish Church
; Herzog and Schaff's Encyclo-

paedia, art.
'

Cameronians.'] W. G. B.

CAMERON, WILLIAM (1751-1811),
Scotch poet, was born in 1751, and educated
at Marischal College, Aberdeen, where he was
a pupil of Dr. Beattie [q. v.] Having been
licensed a preacher ofthe church of Scotland,
he was ordained minister of the parish of

Kirknewton, Midlothian, on 17 Aug. 1786.

Along with the Rev. John Logan and Dr.
John Morrison, he assisted in preparing the
collection of '

Paraphrases
' from Scripture

for the use of the church of Scotland, and he
wrote for the collectionParaphrases XIV and
XVII. On the occasion of the restoration of

the forfeited estates in the highlands, he
wrote a congratulatory song,

' As o'er the

Highland Hills I hied,' which was inserted

in Johnson's ' Museum '

adapted to the old

air,
' The Haughs o' Cromdale.' He was also

the author of a ' Collection of Poems,' pub-
lished anonymously, 1790

;

' The Abuse of

Civil and Religious Liberty,' a sermon, 1793
;

' Ode on Lochiel's Birthday,' 1796 ;

< A Re-
view of the French Revolution,' 1802 ;

' Poems
on several Occasions,' 1813

;
and the account

of the parish of Kirknewton in Sinclair's
' Statistical Account.' His poems are for the

most part of a moral and didactic character.

He died on 17 Nov. 1811.

[New Statistical Account of Scotland, i. 441
;

Scots Magazine, Ixxiv. 79 ;
Forbes's Life of

Beattie, i. 375 ; Eogers's Scottish Minstrel, i. 34-
38 ;

Hew Scott's Fasti Eccles. Scot. i. 143-4.]
T. F. H.

CAMIDGE, JOHN, the elder (1735-1803),

organist and composer, was born at York in

1735. His early musical education was ob-

tained as a chorister of York Minster under
Dr. Nares, to whom he was articled for seven

Sjars,

after which he studied in London under
r. Greene, and received some lessons from

Handel. On his return to Yorkshire, Camidge
became a candidate for the post of organist
at Doncaster parish church, but the Dean of

York hearing him play offered him the ap-

pointment of organist to York Minster, where
he entered upon his duties on 31 Jan. 1756.

Camidge was the first cathedral organist to

introduce into the service, as anthems, selec-

tions from Handel's oratorios, an innovation

which at the time was thought very bold, as

the style of Handel's music was considered

too secular for performance in churches. He
was a florid and brilliant organ-player, and
his extempore performances were celebrated.

Camidge remained at York all his life. His
wife was a Miss Mills, daughter of the chap-
ter registrar, by whom he had a son Matthew

[q. v.j He resigned his organistship 11 Nov.

1799, and died 25 April 1803.

[Authorities as under JOHN CAMIDGE the

younger.] W. B. S.


